FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 8/11/2020 1:42 PM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/12/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 98883-8 COURT OF APPEALS NO. 76672-4-I (FORMER SUPREME COURT NO. 97605-8)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

v.

NICHOLAS WINDSOR ANDERSON,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

JAMES M. WHISMAN Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Petitioner

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

B. **ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

Whether a "prior offense" under RCW 46.61.5055 - a reckless driving conviction that was originally charged as driving under the influence (DUI) – is a "recidivist fact" such that it can be decided by a judge rather than a jury.

C. <u>FACTS</u>

On October 25, 2014, at 1:55 a.m., Auburn Police Department officers arrived on the scene of a devastating multi-victim car crash on Auburn Way South. 1RP 1450, 1452, 1456. An "obliterated" car sat in shrubbery off the roadway with a debris trail that included an uprooted tree and a utility box. 1RP 1462-63. The car was split open like a book, the "binding" being a little metal behind the driver's seat. 1RP 1402. The side panels had been pulled off and there was aerosolized blood – indicating high-speed impact – all over the car. 1RP 1473-74. Four deceased victims lay in and around the car: Caleb Graham, Rehlein Stone, Andy Tedford, and Suzanne McCay. 1RP 1473. Limbs of the deceased had been detached in the ferocity of the crash. James Vaccaro survived but had permanent brain damage. 2RP 1044-82. Nicholas Anderson also survived with serious but non-fatal injuries. 2RP 408-17. It was clear that this had been a high-speed collision. 1RP 1474. The speed limit on Auburn Road South was 35 miles per hour, but it was estimated that the car was likely traveling close to 100 miles per hour. 1RP 1474, 1484.

Further investigation, including DNA evidence from saliva deposited on the driver's air bag, and admissions from Nicholas Anderson, proved that Anderson had been the driver of the car. 2RP 774, 778, 1219-23 (DNA); 1RP 1479, 2RP 239 (admissions). The ethanol level in Anderson's blood was .19 grams per 100 milliliters of blood. 2RP 425. He also had a THC level of 2.0 nanograms per milliliter in his blood and carboxy THC of 17 nanograms per milliliter in his blood. 2RP 425. This level of marijuana was consistent with inhalation within the previous 3-5 hours. 2RP 426. State toxicologist Asa Louis testified that the alcohol and marijuana would affect Anderson's ability to safely operate the car and to perceive space and time properly. 2RP 425.

Anderson was convicted at trial of four counts of vehicular homicide (under the impairment prong), a count of vehicular assault (under the impairment prong), and a count of reckless driving. CP 139-43. The jury found a special aggravating factor applied to the vehicular assault count because James Vaccaro's injuries were "substantially exceeding the level of bodily harm necessary to satisfy the elements of the crime." CP 144.

At sentencing, the Honorable Cheryl Carey imposed concurrent 280-month sentences on the four homicide counts. 1RP 1403-04; CP 159. The court also imposed two 24-month enhancements because, under RCW 9.94A.553, "an additional two years is added to the standard sentence range for vehicular homicide committed while under the influence of intoxicating liquor or any drug . . . for each prior offense as defined in *RCW* 46.61.5055." (emphasis added). Pursuant to RCW 9.94A.525(11) this criminal history is not included in the offender score, but is instead an enhancement to the standard range of vehicular homicide (under the impairment-prong). RCW 46.61.5055 defines a "prior offense" as, among other crimes, "a conviction for violation of RCW ... 46.61.500 [reckless driving]... that was originally filed as a violation of RCW 46.61.500 [DUI]." Anderson had two such prior offenses. He had previously been convicted of DUI (1998) and reckless driving (amended DUI – 2005) and these crimes constituted "prior offenses" as defined under RCW 46.61.5055(14)(a).

Defense counsel conceded at sentencing determining the "prior offenses" was a decision for the court. RP 1369 ("And should the Court find by (sic) preponderance of the evidence that the State's proven those enhancements, then we defer to the Court as to the Court imposes those."). He merely asked that the enhancements run concurrently, not consecutively. CP 153 (Defense Presentence Recommendation). The sentencing court, not a jury, determined that these two previous crimes constituted "prior offenses" under the statute. 1RP 1404; CP 159 (Judgment and Sentence, Sec. 4.4). Nobody ever suggested that a jury trial was required.

Anderson argued for the first time on appeal that the State was statutorily required to prove that the "prior offenses" involved drugs or alcohol. Br. of Appellant 27-30. His argument was mainly premised on the "drugs or alcohol" component of RCW 46.61.5055. Br. of Appellant at 30-44. The State responded that there was neither a statutory nor a constitutional requirement to submit the question to a jury. Br. of Respondent at 31-42.

In a published opinion, the Court of Appeals held as a constitutional matter that the State had to prove the "prior offense" to the jury. It then held that the State was statutorily required to prove the offense involved drugs or alcohol. <u>State v. Anderson</u>, 9 Wn. App. 2d 430, 446-47, 462-63, 447 P.3d 176 (2019). The court divided, however, on what precise factual question must be decided by the jury. Judge Leach would have ruled that the jury need simply decide that the conviction

existed and had originally been charged as a DUI. <u>Anderson</u>, at 447. Two judges, however, held that the jury had to decide whether the original charge was alcohol-related. Anderson, at 462-63.

The State petitioned this Court for review on both the constitutional question and the statutory question. The State argued that there was no constitutional imperative to submit any question about the prior offense to a jury. Petition for Review at 7-9. The State also argued, however, that the relevant statutory question (for the judge) was simply whether the prior offense had originally been charged as a DUI. Petition for Review at 9-14. <u>State v. Wu</u> was pending before this Court at that time, and it appeared to raise the same *statutory* issue, so the State recommended staying consideration of <u>Anderson</u> until after <u>Wu</u> was decided.

This Court might resolve that issue in the pending review of \underline{Wu} . However, because \underline{Wu} involved a felony DUI, and thus one of the elements the State is required to prove is four prior offenses, this Court could decide that in felony DUI cases a "prior offense" must be proved to a jury without answering the question of whether for purposes of a sentencing enhancement, as in the case below, a "prior offense" must be proved to a jury. If that issue is not resolved by \underline{Wu} , this case would serve as a vehicle to decide the issue.

Petition for Review at 8-9 and 14-15 (warning that <u>Wu</u> might clarify the scope of review but would not resolve the underlying constitutional issue in this case).

After this Court issued its decision in <u>State v. Wu</u>, 194 Wn.2d 880, 453 P.3d 975 (2019), it granted the State's petition for review in <u>Anderson</u> and remanded the case to the Court of Appeals for reconsideration in light of <u>Wu</u>. <u>Anderson</u>, 195 Wn.2d 1001 (2020). <u>Wu</u> held that a jury must decide only whether there existed prior convictions that had originally been charged as DUI; the jury need not decide that the offenses were alcohol-related. <u>Wu</u>, 194 Wn.2d at 891-93.

The Court of Appeals never called for additional briefing after the remand. Instead, it simply issued a new but unpublished decision. <u>State v. Anderson</u>, No. 76672-4-I, slip op., 2020 WL 3047426 (Court of Appeals, filed June 8, 2020) (Appendix A). The new opinion did not address the State's arguments – contained in its original briefing and in the petition for review that had been granted – that there was no constitutional reason to hold a jury trial as to the existence or nature of his prior criminal history when it was an enhancement rather than a legislatively designated element of the offense. The court simply noted in passing that the case must be remanded so a *jury* could find beyond a reasonable doubt that Anderson had a 2005 reckless driving conviction that was originally charged as a DUI. <u>Anderson</u>, slip op. at 3. The Court of Appeals did reverse its original holding as the relevant statutory question. Based on Wu, it held that the State had to prove Anderson's prior 2005 reckless

driving conviction was originally charged as a DUI, not that the crime involved alcohol or drugs. <u>Id.</u> at 3.

The State asked the court to reconsider, pointing out that the fact of a "prior offense" was a recidivist fact that need not be pled and proved to a jury, unless the legislature had made that question an element of the crime. Motion to Reconsider at 4-7. Anderson answered that a "prior offense" was not a recidivist fact because it includes a finding that the conviction was originally charged as a DUI. Answer at 2-10. The Court of Appeals denied reconsideration without comment. Appendix B (Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration).

D. <u>REASONS TO GRANT REVEW</u>

A petition for review will be accepted by this Court "(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or ... (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3), (4). Because the lower court's opinion conflicts with decisions of this Court and the Supreme Court, and because these are

issues of substantial public interest, review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3), and (4).

1. WHETHER A PRIOR CONVICTION IS A "PRIOR OFFENSE" IS A RECIDIVIST FACT THAT MAY BE DETERMINED BY THE COURT AT SENTENCING.

The Court of Appeals decision in this case narrowly interpreted the recidivist facts exception to the jury trial right and based its decision on inapposite cases. Review is warranted to correct the conflicts created by this decision.

> a. The Recidivist Facts Exception To The Jury Trial Requirement Permits Judges Rather Than Juries To Decide Facts Surrounding Prior Convictions That Authorize Increased Punishment.

It is beyond dispute that aggravating facts that relate to the crime of conviction and that will increase punishment must be pled and proved to a jury beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>Apprendi v. New Jersey</u>, 530 U.S. 466, 120 S. Ct. 2348, 147 L. Ed. 2d 435 (2000). However, there is a wellestablished exception to that rule: facts relating to a prior conviction which increases punishment are "recidivist facts" that may be decided by a judge. <u>Almendarez-Torres v. United States</u>, 523 U.S. 224, 118 S. Ct. 1219, 140 L. Ed. 2d 350 (1998) (recognizing a long tradition of treating recidivism as going to the punishment only). Even recidivist facts must, however, be pled and proved to a jury if the legislature chooses to make such facts an element of a crime. <u>State v. Roswell</u>, 165 Wn.2d 186, 189, 196 P.3d 705 (2008).

More than 14 years ago this Court squarely embraced these principles and held that recidivist facts – including the fact whether a person was on community custody when he committed the instant crime – can be decided by the court at sentencing, without a jury.

> [T]he United States Constitution does not require a jury to examine the record associated with a prior criminal conviction to determine the defendant's community placement status. In our view, the nature of the inquiry that must be conducted for the community placement determination—an examination strictly limited to a review and interpretation of documents (such as the prior judgment and sentence) that are part of the judicial record created by a prior conviction—is an issue of law that is properly entrusted to the sentencing court and falls within the prior conviction exception.

State v. Jones, 159 Wn.2d 231, 239, 149 P.3d 636 (2006), cert. denied,

549 U.S. 1354 (2007). This conclusion flowed from a careful analysis of

multiple Supreme Court decisions on the nature and scope of the recidivist

facts exception. See Blakely v. Washington, 542 U.S. 296, 124 S. Ct.

2531, 159 L. Ed. 2d 403 (2004) (facts of the crime justifying an

exceptional sentence must be pled and proved to a jury); United States v.

Booker, 543 U.S. 220, 244, 125 S. Ct. 738, 160 L. Ed. 2d 621 (2005)

(federal sentencing guidelines must be deemed permissive rather than

mandatory to be constitutional under <u>Blakely</u>); <u>Shepard v. United States</u>, 544 U.S. 13, 125 S. Ct. 1254, 161 L. Ed. 2d 205 (2005) (a sentencing court cannot look to police reports in making "generic burglary" decision under Armed Career Criminal Act). This Court also noted multiple decisions from state courts of last resort that were in accord and that certiorari was denied in several of those cases. <u>Jones</u>, at 242-44.

The defense in <u>Jones</u> argued that a jury was required because there were too many variables as to when a person starts or completes community placement. <u>Jones</u>, at 244-46. The Court rejected the argument. <u>Id.</u>

This Court also rejected the argument that a recidivist fact must be limited to nothing more than the fact of conviction. Jones, 159 Wn.2d at 238. It held that a sentencing court could determine facts surrounding the prior conviction and could rely on court documents to do so.

... sentencing courts may consider documents beyond the prior judgment and sentence to support prior-offense-based sentencing determinations. Specifically, the Court [in <u>Shepard</u>] held that the sentencing court may make the relevant prior conviction determination by looking to the jury instructions, the charging documents, the plea agreement, the transcript of plea colloquy, any explicit factual finding by the trial judge to which the defendant assented, and any "comparable judicial record." ... It did say that police reports and complaint applications run afoul of <u>Apprendi</u> because disputed facts in those types of reports are "too much like the findings subject to ... <u>Apprendi</u>, to say that <u>Almendarez-Torres</u> clearly authorizes a judge to resolve the dispute." ... <u>Jones</u>, 159 Wn.2d at 246 (internal citations omitted). This Court held that police reports and complaint applications contain facts about the nature of the underlying crime. A bare charging document which names the crime originally charged, however, does not require any assessment of facts. It is purely a matter of reading the relevant court record.

This Court also rejected arguments that the recidivist exception

had been silently overruled.

We are not convinced that the Supreme Court is inclined to disavow its decision in that case given that it has been presented with several opportunities to do so, including the recent decisions in Booker and Shepard. Accord statement of Justice John Paul Stevens respecting the denial of the petitions for writ of certiorari in Banegas-Hernandez v. United States, ---- U.S. ----, 126 S. Ct. 2951, 165 L.Ed.2d 974 (2006) and Rangel-Reves v. United States, no special justification for overruling Almendarez-Torres and countless judges in countless cases have relied on that case in making sentencing determinations.). Even if we were inclined to agree with the dissent's unstated assertion that it is only a matter of time before that case is overruled, we are certainly not free to overrule or ignore established Supreme Court precedent. See State Oil Co. v. Khan, 522 U.S. 3, 20, 118 S. Ct. 275, 139 L.Ed.2d 199 (1997) ("it is [the Supreme] Court's prerogative alone to overrule one of its precedents"). Almendarez-Torres remains the law of the land, and a number of jurisdictions have construed that case to allow for the result we have reached herein.

Jones, 159 Wn.2d at 239 n.7.

A year after Jones, this Court again upheld the recidivist facts

exception in the face of a challenge to the Persistent Offender Act.

This court has repeatedly rejected similar arguments and held that <u>Apprendi</u> and its progeny do not require the State to submit a defendant's prior convictions to a jury and prove them beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>See, e.g., Lavery</u>, 154 Wn.2d at 256-57, 111 P.3d 837; <u>State v. Smith</u>, 150 Wn.2d 135, 143, 75 P.3d 934 (2003), <u>cert. denied</u>, 541 U.S. 909, 124 S. Ct. 1616, 158 L.Ed.2d 256 (2004); <u>State v. Wheeler</u>, 145 Wn.2d 116, 34 P.3d 799 (2001), <u>cert. denied</u>, 535 U.S. 996, 122 S. Ct. 1559, 152 L.Ed.2d 482 (2002); see also <u>Ortega</u>, 120 Wn. App. 165, 84 P.3d 935; <u>accord</u> <u>Almendarez-Torres v. United States</u>, 523 U.S. 224, 247, 118 S. Ct. 1219, 140 L.Ed.2d 350 (1998) (holding that the State need not prove the fact of a prior conviction to a jury).

<u>State v. Thiefault</u>, 160 Wn.2d 409, 418, 158 P.3d 580 (2007). Thus, it is clear that the recidivist facts exception is well-established in Washington law and that the exception is not limited to the mere existence of a prior conviction.

b. The Court Of Appeals Misapprehended The Recidivist Facts Exception And Relied On Inapposite And Reversed Cases.

The Court of Appeals in this case seems to have originally concluded that a jury trial on recidivist facts was required based on a narrow interpretation of <u>Almendarez-Torres</u> and <u>Blakely</u>, and based also on the case of <u>State v. Mullen</u>, 186 Wn. App. 321, 324, 345 P.3d 26 (2015) and a dissenting opinion in <u>State v. Wu</u>, 6 Wn. App. 2d 679, 431 P.3d 1070 (2018), <u>review granted</u>, 193 Wn.2d 1002 (2019). <u>Anderson</u>, 9 Wn. App. 2d at 443-47. It did not alter those conclusions in its short

2008-6 Anderson SupCt

opinion following this court's order to reconsider the case in light of <u>State</u> <u>v. Wu</u>, 194 Wn.2d 880, 453 P.3d 975 (2019). <u>Anderson</u>, slip op. at 2-3. It did not alter its holding based on the State's motion to reconsider. Appendix B.

The conceptional underpinnings of the <u>Anderson</u> court's rationale are no longer valid. The analysis from <u>Mullen</u> was overruled in this Court's <u>Wu</u> decision, and the dissenting opinion from the Court of Appeals decision in <u>Wu</u> was disavowed, too. <u>Wu</u>, at 885-88. The lower court's failure to apply precedent in its second opinion in this case warrants review.

Moreover, the Court of Appeals failed to consider this Court's interpretation of the <u>Almendarez-Torres</u> exception in light of <u>Jones</u>. The <u>Jones</u> court expressly rejected a narrow reading of the recidivist facts exception. <u>Jones</u>, at 243 (rejecting "Jones's and Thomas's narrow reading of the prior conviction exception"). The Court of Appeals' narrow construction of that exception as applied here conflicts with the broader interpretation provided in <u>Jones</u>.

Additionally, it appears that the Court of Appeals failed to recognize that \underline{Wu} was different from this case in a critical way. The crime at issue in \underline{Wu} was felony DUI, where the legislature has decided – even though it was not constitutionally compelled to do so – that prior convictions should be elements of the crime and elevate that crime to a felony. \underline{Wu} , 194 Wn.2d at 890-91 (discussing what the state is required to prove under RCW 46.61.5055). Not so here, where the prior conviction functions simply as a sentencing enhancement and the legislature has removed it from the offender score. Thus, the prior conviction in this context is a pure recidivist fact, not an element of the crime, so it need not be proved to a jury.

For all these reasons, the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with binding precedent making review appropriate.

2. WHETHER A "PRIOR OFFENSE" IS A RECIDIVIST FACT THAT CAN BE DETERMINED BY THE COURT IS AN ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC IMPORT.

Numerous felony traffic offenses currently authorize enhanced penalties following a judicial finding based on a prior conviction. A vehicular homicide offense (under the impairment prong) may be enhanced, as in this case, based on a finding of "prior offenses." RCW 46.61.520 ("Vehicular homicide is a class A felony punishable under chapter 9A.20 RCW, except that, for a conviction under subsection (1)(a) of this section, *an additional two years shall be added to the sentence for each prior offense as defined in RCW 46.61.5055*).

The finding determines whether certain impairment-related convictions count in the offender score. RCW 9.94A.525(2)(e). Also, a person convicted of reckless or negligent driving (amended from an alcohol-DUI) must use an interlock device and the length of time required is determined on whether or not the person has "prior offenses." RCW 46.61.500(3)(a) (reckless driving); RCW 46.61.5249(4) (negligent driving). The judicial determination of "prior offenses" also determines the mandatory minimum sentence for all driving under the influence and physical control under the influence convictions. RCW 46.61.5055. Finally, a person charged with an alcohol-related driving offense is required to install an ignition interlock device as a condition of release if that person has any "prior offenses." RCW 10.21.055.

Thus, whether a jury must find "prior offenses" has broad implications for sentencing in impaired driving and boating laws.

E. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

For the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully asks this Court to grant review of the Court of Appeals decision in order to resolve conflicts with precedents in an area of substantial public import.

DATED this 11th day of August, 2020.

Respectfully submitted,

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

By: JAMES M. WHISMAN, WSBA #19109

JAMES M. WHISMAN, WSBA #19109 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Petitioner Office WSBA #91002

APPENDIX A

RICHARD D. JOHNSON, Court Administrator/Clerk The Court of Appeals of the State of Washington Seattle

DIVISION I One Union Square 600 University Street 98101-4170 (206) 464-7750 TDD: (206) 587-5505

RECEIVED

June 8, 2020

By King County Prosecutor's Office at 9:29 am, Jun 08, 2020

Prosecuting Atty King County King Co Pros/App Unit Supervisor W554 King County Courthouse 516 Third Avenue Seattle, WA 98104 paoappellateunitmail@kingcounty.gov Carla Barbieri Carlstrom King Co Prosecutor's Office 500 4th Ave Ste 900 Seattle, WA 98104-2316 carla.carlstrom@kingcounty.gov

Nielsen Koch PLLC Attorney at Law 1908 E Madison St Seattle, WA 98122 Sloanej@nwattorney.net Jared Berkeley Steed Nielsen Koch, PLLC 1908 E Madison St Seattle, WA 98122-2842 steedj@nwattorney.net

CASE #: 76672-4-I State of Washington, Respondent v. Nicholas Windsor Anderson, Appellant

King County, Cause No. 14-1-06506-6 KNT

Counsel:

Enclosed is a copy of the opinion filed in the above-referenced appeal which states in part:

"We remand for further proceedings consistent with this opinion."

Counsel may file a motion for reconsideration within 20 days of filing this opinion pursuant to RAP 12.4(b). If counsel does not wish to file a motion for reconsideration but does wish to seek review by the Supreme Court, RAP 13.4(a) provides that if no motion for reconsideration is made, a petition for review must be filed in this court within 30 days.

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