FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/10/2020 10:16 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 98883-8 NO. 76672-4-I consolidated with No. 78070-1-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

v.

NICHOLAS ANDERSON,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

The Honorable Cheryl B. Carey, Judge

ANSWER TO STATE'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

JARED B. STEED Attorney for Petitioner

NIELSEN KOCH, PLLC 1908 East Madison Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

This Court should deny review because the Court of Appeals decision is correct, based on the facts and law, and this case does not meet any of the criteria for review under RAP 13.4(b).

1. There Is No Conflict With Other Decisions.

Under the Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial, any fact (other than the fact of a prior conviction) that increases the penalty for a crime beyond the prescribed statutory maximum must be submitted to a jury and proved beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>Blakely v. Washington</u>, 542 U.S. 296, 301-05, 124 S. Ct. 2531, 159 L. Ed. 2d 403 (2004). Traditionally, questions of "pure historical fact" are for the jury to decide, as are mixed questions of law and fact where the jury applies the facts to the legal standard to render a verdict. <u>United States v. Gaudin</u>, 515 U.S. 506, 512-14, 115 S. Ct. 2310, 132 L. Ed. 2d 444 (1995). The trial court only retains authority to decide "pure questions of law." <u>Id.</u> at 513.

Whether a prior conviction for reckless driving qualifies as a "prior offense" as defined by RCW 46.61.5055(14)(a) is a factual

-4-

determination, not a legal one. The issue cannot be decided as a matter of law because the existence of a conviction for reckless driving does not in and of itself prove that the offense was originally charged as a DUI as required by RCW 46.61.5055(14)(a).

"[T]he existence of a prior conviction need not be presented to a jury and proved beyond a reasonable doubt." <u>State v. Olsen</u>, 180 Wn.2d 468, 473, 325 P.3d 187, (emphasis added), <u>cert. denied</u>, 135 S. Ct. 287, 190 L. Ed. 2d 210 (2014). "But when it comes to the question of what facts were established by a prior conviction," courts "may assess 'only facts that were admitted, stipulated to, or proved beyond a reasonable doubt' during the prior proceeding." <u>State v. Allen</u>, 5 Wn. App. 2d 32, 37, 425 P.3d 529 (2018) (quoting <u>Olsen</u>, 180 Wn.2d at 473-74). In examining a prior conviction, "a judge cannot go beyond identifying the crime of conviction to explore the manner in which the defendant committed that offense" without running afoul of the Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial. <u>Mathis v. United States</u>, __U.S.__, 136 S. Ct. 2243, 2252, 195 L. Ed. 2d 604 (2016).

-5-

In Anderson's case, the State needed to prove more than just the existence of Anderson's prior reckless driving conviction. It also needed to prove that it was originally charged as a DUI. RCW 46.61.5055(14)(a). Anderson's prior reckless driving conviction itself does not establish that it was originally charged as a DUI. <u>See</u> BOA at 26-52; RBOA at 1-10. Anderson's Statement of Defendant on Plea of Guilty makes no reference to the reckless driving having involved drugs or alcohol. And while the statement indicates Anderson is pleading guilty to reckless driving "as amended" it makes no reference what the pled charge was amended from. BOA at 50-51 (citing CP 242-342).

Similarly, the judgement and sentence for reckless driving makes no reference to the crime involving drugs or alcohol. Significantly, the "drug related" box is not checked, nor is any box checked indicating that Anderson had a registered blood alcohol content. All the "mandatory conditions of sentence" pertaining to drugs and alcohol are crossed out. <u>Id.</u>

While the "additional conditions of sentence" require Anderson to attend a DUI victim's panel and follow the treatment recommendations of an "alcohol drug treatment provider" that is

-6-

not dispositive of whether it was originally charged as a DUI. Although conditions of probation for felony convictions under the SRA, chapter 9.94A RCW, "must relate directly to the crime for which the offender was convicted," probation conditions attached to misdemeanors need only "bear a reasonable relation to the defendant's duty to make restitution or ... tend to prevent the future commission of crimes." <u>State v. Deskins</u>, 180 Wn.2d 68, 77, 322 P.3d 780 (2014) (quoting <u>State v. Williams</u>, 97 Wn. App. 257, 263, 983 P.2d 687 (1999), <u>review denied</u>, 140 Wn.2d 1006, 999 P.2d 1261 (2000)). Thus, "[c]ourts have a great deal of discretion when setting probation conditions for misdemeanors and are not restricted by the [SRA]." <u>Id.</u>

The Court of Appeals properly concluded that, "whether Anderson's reckless driving conviction qualifies as a prior offense requires a factual finding that a jury must make because the enhancement cannot apply based only on the fact of the reckless driving conviction." <u>Anderson</u>, 9 Wn. App. 2d at 446-47; <u>see also</u> <u>Anderson</u>, WL 3047256 at *1 (properly recognizing that <u>Wu</u> concluded a jury must decide whether an earlier reckless driving conviction was originally charged as a DUI). This conclusion is correct based on the facts of Anderson's case and existing case law.

In <u>Wu</u>, this Court concluded that for purposes of proving a "prior offense" under RCW 46.61.5055(14)(a) in the context of a felony DUI, the State was required to prove, in part, to a jury that Wu had a prior reckless driving conviction that was originally charged as a DUI. 194 Wn.2d at 889-91. The Court emphasized the crucial distinction between the trial court's threshold "legal determination" of whether a "prior offense" satisfied the statutory definition of RCW 46.61.5055(14)(a) such that it could be submitted to the jury, and the jury's role in deciding the "question of fact" of whether the essential element of the crime had in fact been proven beyond a reasonable doubt. Id. at 889. Having assessed the trial documents introduced by the State, the jury determined that Wu's conviction for reckless driving was originally charged as a DUI and therefore satisfied the "prior offense" requirement of RCW 46.61.5055(14)(a). Id. at 889-91.

The prosecution's position is that \underline{Wu} does not control because it involved "prior offenses" in the context of a felony DUI case rather than "prior offenses" affecting a sentencing

-8-

enhancement at issue here. Petition at 15. This is true, but it is a distinction without significance. RCW 46.61.5055(14)(a) requires the same "prior offense" showing in either situation. Moreover, "Any fact that, by law, increases the penalty for a crime is an 'element' that must be submitted to the jury and found beyond a reasonable doubt." <u>Alleyne v. United States</u>, 570 U.S. 99, 103, 133 S. Ct. 2151, 186 L. Ed. 2d 314 (2013) (citing Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 483 n.10, 490, 120 S.Ct. 2348, 147 L.Ed.2d 435 (2000)). As the Court of Appeals properly recognized, the relevant question is not whether the "prior offense" is being proven as an element of the underlying offense or as a sentencing enhancement, but rather, the critical distinction between what is required to prove a "prior conviction" versus a "prior offense". Anderson, 9 Wn. App. 2d at 446-47; Anderson, WL 3047256, *1. Wu explicitly affirms this line of reasoning:

[W]hether a prior offense meets the statutory definition is a threshold question of law to be decided by the trial court prior to admitting the evidence to the jury. To the extent <u>Wu</u> can be read to mean that *admissibility* of the prior convictions is a legal question properly for the trial court, we approve such approach.

194 Wn.2d at 899 (citing <u>State v. Wu</u>, 6 Wn. App. 2d 679, 431 P.3d 1070 (2018) (emphasis in original). <u>Wu</u> is not in conflict with the Court of Appeals opinion in this case.

Notwithstanding the support <u>Wu</u> provides, the prosecution also ignores the fact that neither Anderson's argument, nor the Court of Appeals opinion, rests exclusively on <u>Wu</u>. <u>See</u> BOA at 30, 39, 45-46 (citing <u>Alleyne</u>, <u>Blakely</u>, and <u>Apprendi</u>).

As <u>Apprendi</u> properly recognizes, in deciding the question of what facts must be subject to a jury finding, "the relevant inquiry is one not of form, but of effect — does the required finding expose the defendant to a greater punishment than that authorized by the jury's guilty verdict?" 530 U.S. at 494. Accordingly, "[i]f a State makes an increase in a defendant's authorized punishment contingent on the finding of a fact, that fact—no matter how the State labels it—must be found by a jury beyond a reasonable doubt." <u>Ring v. Arizona</u>, 536 U.S. 584, 602, 122 S. Ct. 2428, 153 L. Ed. 2d 556 (2002). The required finding here is that the "prior offense" of reckless driving was originally charged as a DUI. That finding exposes Anderson to an additional consecutive 24-month prison sentence for each

-10-

vehicular homicide conviction. As such, it needs to be found by a jury to comply with the Sixth Amendment, regardless of the descriptive label attached to it.

The prosecution attempts to circumvent <u>Apprendi</u> by citing to <u>State v. Jones</u>, 159 Wn.2d 231, 149 P.3d 636 (2006), <u>State v.</u> <u>Thiefault</u>, 160 Wn.2d 409, 158 P.3d 580 (2007), and <u>Shepard v.</u> <u>United States</u>, 544 U.S. 13, 125 S. Ct. 1254, 161 L. Ed. 2d 205 (2005). Petition at 10-15. But these cases are also not in conflict with the Court of Appeals decision in Anderson's case.

Under <u>Jones</u>, Washington courts may determine "as a matter of law" facts "intimately related to the *prior conviction*" such as the dates of conviction, offense dates, and the underlying offense. 159 Wn.2d at 241 (emphasis added). Significantly, each of these facts is apparent from the face of the judgment at issue. As discussed above, whether Anderson's reckless driving conviction was originally charged as a DUI for purposes of a "*prior offense*" is not readily apparent from the face of the judgment at and sentence itself. Moreover, the standard of proof for the "prior conviction exception" – such as the community custody determination in <u>Jones</u>, or persistent offender finding in <u>Theifault</u>

is preponderance of the evidence, not the beyond a reasonable doubt showing required here for a "prior offense" finding. <u>Wu</u>, 194 Wn.2d at 889-91; <u>Theifault</u>, 160 Wn.2d at 418; <u>Jones</u>, 159 Wn.2d at 241, 243, 247.

In <u>Shepard</u> the court stated in dicta that in guilty plea cases, "the statement of factual basis for the charge, ... shown by a transcript of a plea colloquy or by written plea agreement presented to the court, or by a record of comparable findings of fact *adopted by the defendant* upon entering the plea" constitute evidence of the facts of the offense upon which a subsequent sentencing court could properly rely. 544 U.S. at 20-21 (emphasis added). But the <u>Shepard</u> court drew a clear distinction between considering facts adopted by the defendant, and those involving disputed facts, such as police reports or complaint applications which are "too much like the findings subject to ... <u>Apprendi</u> to say that <u>Almendarez-Torres^[1] clearly authorizes a judge to resolve the dispute." 544 U.S. at 25. Again, as discussed above, the facts adopted by Anderson in his Statement of Defendant on</u>

¹ <u>Almendarez-Torres v. United States</u>, 523 U.S. 224, 228, 118 S. Ct. 1219, 140 L. Ed. 2d 350 (1998).

Plea of Guilty makes no reference to the reckless driving having originally been charged as a DUI or otherwise involving drugs or alcohol.

The Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial does not allow the court to usurp the function of the jury and decide the matter on its own authority. This Court should deny the State's petition because the Court of Appeals conclusion that Anderson had the right to have the jury decide as an issue of fact, whether his reckless driving conviction was originally charged as a DUI for purposes of the "prior offense" sentencing enhancement, is correct based on the facts and law.

2. There Is No Issue of Substantial Public Interest.

<u>Wu</u> has already answered the question of what factual determination a jury must make. 194 Wn.2d at 889. The prosecution nonetheless identifies a jury's determination of "prior offenses" as having broad implications for impaired operator sentencing. In reality, the scope of the Court of Appeals' opinion here is extremely limited and will only arise in situations nearly identical to Anderson's. In many circumstances, the face of the record of the prior conviction will leave nothing left for the prosecution to prove for purposes of a "prior offense." In such instances, the trial court can properly make the necessary determination as a matter of law. The defendant can also admit or stipulate to, the fact that the prior conviction was originally charged as a DUI.

The prosecution also cites examples of what it contends are other "enhanced penalties" affected by a jury's "prior offense" finding. Petition at 15-16. Each of the offered examples is plainly a condition of sentencing however, not an enhancement which extends a defendant's prison sentence beyond the prescribed statutory maximum and requires a jury determination.

There is no conflict in any area of substantial public importance that warrants review.

E. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

The Court of Appeals decision is thorough, limited in scope, and correctly decided under existing law. It presents no new questions of substantial public interest. This Court should deny the State's petition.

DATED this 9th day of September, 2020

Respectfully submitted,

NIELSEN KOCH, PLLC

1C

JARED B. STEED WSBA No. 40635 Office ID No. 91051

Attorneys for Respondent

NIELSEN KOCH P.L.L.C.

September 10, 2020 - 10:16 AM

Transmittal Information

Filed with Court:Supreme CourtAppellate Court Case Number:9883-8Appellate Court Case Title:State of Washington v. Nicholas Windsor Anderson

The following documents have been uploaded:

 988838_Answer_Reply_20200910101526SC789624_4158.pdf This File Contains: Answer/Reply - Answer to Petition for Review The Original File Name was ATPFR 98883-8.pdf

A copy of the uploaded files will be sent to:

- Jim.Whisman@kingcounty.gov
- paoappellateunitmail@kingcounty.gov

Comments:

Copy mailed to: Nicholas Anderson, 808304 Stafford Creek Corrections Center 191 Constantine Way Aberdeen, WA 98520-

Sender Name: John Sloane - Email: Sloanej@nwattorney.net Filing on Behalf of: Jared Berkeley Steed - Email: steedj@nwattorney.net (Alternate Email:)

Address: 1908 E. Madison Street Seattle, WA, 98122 Phone: (206) 623-2373

Note: The Filing Id is 20200910101526SC789624